Housing in Liverpool - An Historical Perspective





The study of  the Bevington Street area is an example of how housing in any area of the city can be used in conjunction with a range of documentary and pictorial sources to form the basis of an investigation for pupils in Key Stages 1 and 2. Work done in the classroom can be enhanced not only by an exploration of the local housing area but also through a visit to the Museum of Liverpool Life. Teachers will need to investigate the opportunities available around their schools. Some areas, it goes without saying, will offer more potential than others but, with a few insights into why an area of housing was built, what was there before and where the people who were to live there came from, there may be more possibilities than first realised. The following brief historical perspective is intended to offer a guide to the development of housing in Liverpool in the 19th and 20th centuries.


Introduction


Although established in 1207 by Charter from King John, Liverpool is essentially a creation of the 18th and 19th centuries. The massive expansion of trade during this period fuelled the development of the port and a rapidly growing population. The ever increasing number of Liverpudlians had to be housed. While the merchant and middle classes were able to afford a range of quality housing, much of which can still be seen in the Georgian, Victorian and Edwardian areas of the city, the poorer working class were forced to live in overcrowded and insanitary conditions.  


Population Growth


During its first five hundred years, Liverpool remained a minor port servicing trade along its coast and with Ireland. Even as late as 1700 its population was only about 5000. This was soon to change as Liverpool developed its ‘triangular trade’ based on the slave trade. In 1715 the port opened the world’s first commercial ‘wet dock’. Others soon followed and by the time of the first official census in Britain in 1801, Liverpool’s population had risen to 77,500. This rapid rate of increase continued during the course of the 19th century. By the 1851 census, the population of Liverpool had grown to 258,000 and was to rise to 685,000 in 1901 before finally peaking at 855,000 in 1931.


As if these statistics were not a dramatic enough illustration of Liverpool’s population growth, it is important to note that there were periods of even more intense growth. Between 1851 and 1861, for example, Liverpool gained an extra 118,000 citizens. This represent an increase of over 45 per cent.


Jobs and land


The above account of Liverpool’s rapid population growth show that meeting the demand for housing would be a very difficult problem in the best of circumstances. Two other factors, however, need to be taken into account to help explain not only why Liverpool only failed to house its population adequately but also why it became so notorious for its slums. It was characterised as the ‘Black Spot on the Mersey’, a place whose effects on the health of its population could be disastrous. In the 1840s, for example, the death rate in Liverpool for children under one year of age was over twice the national average.


The first factor to be taken into account is the type of employment available. As a port, Liverpool created fortunes for a merchant class. The needs of shipping lead to large banking, insurance, warehousing and transport sectors but little in the way of manufacturing industries providing employment for a skilled and relatively well paid workforce. For the majority of Liverpool’s working classes, employment opportunities consisted of unskilled, often casual, labouring jobs which were poorly paid and subject to periods of unemployment. Such a working population could only afford low rents. As a report of 1867 showed that between 1841 and 1866 only very small proportion of the 40,661 houses built in Liverpool were under the value of £12 per annum. The result was obvious. The greater part of Liverpool’s working class had, for much of the 19th century, little choice but to live in overcrowded and extremely unhealthy housing of the court and cellar type.  


The second factor to exacerbate Liverpool’s housing problems was the cost and supply of building land. Much of the land needed for development was controlled by a small group of families. This group, which included the Lords Sefton, Derby and Salisbury, maintained a tight control on the release of land for development in order to maximise their income from rents. The result was further overcrowding. In Liverpool in the 1860s, the cheapest land cost 16/- (80p) per yard freehold whereas in Leeds land was available at between 2/6d 12.5p) and 5/- (25p). The result was that in Liverpool there was greater overcrowding in four or five floor tenement blocks.


Housing the Merchant and Middle Classes


Originally the merchant and middle classes lived like others around the port. It was necessary to walk to their places of business. Soon this began to change and a few examples will illustrate the process. Duke Street was built for the merchant classes in the 1760s. It boasted a tree-lined walk and such gentlemanly institutions as the Union News room opened in 1801. Gradually, however, Duke Street was abandoned as houses were sold off separately from the gardens behind them which were built on to provide working class housing. Dukes Terrace, the last surviving example of back-to-back housing in Liverpool, provides evidence of the process.


The story is one of the merchant and middle classes moving further and further from the centre of Liverpool, especially as transport became easier and the land upon which they were living became increasing valuable. Old ordnance survey maps of the Everton area provide an excellent example. The 1848 60 inch map of Everton Street shows it to be an area of substantial houses with large gardens. On the equivalent 1893 map, the majority of these had been replaced by terraces of working class housing. 


As a result, many of the wealthier classes moved further out to developments such as Grassendale and Cressington Parks. These date from the 1840s and contain many large Victorian and Edwardian villas. Cressington Station was opened in 1861 made the centre of Liverpool very accessible. In this continuing process, of course, many moved away altogether as can be seen in developments in places such as Waterloo.  


Terraced Housing


The most obvious housing legacy from any of the great Victorian towns and cities of England is the terraced house. Although many have since been demolished in Liverpool, for example in the redevelopment Everton during the 1960s, terraced houses of varying sizes built in the latter half of the 19th and the early part of the 20th centuries continue to form a major part of the city’s housing stock in areas such as Walton, Kensington and Wavertree. 


These terraces provided high density housing. Frontages were kept narrow by putting one room behind the other on the ground floor to which an annexe or ‘outrigger’ with kitchen, wash-house and WC could be added. Upstairs there could be up to four bedrooms each with their own access. The design of the terrace was economical in that minimised the external walls and maximised the party walls. 


Terraces were built to rent out. Some of the best known builders were Welsh. Owen Elias (1806 - 1880) built large sections of Everton and Walton. In the latter, a complete series of streets were named so that the first letter of each spelled out the names of Owen and his brother William. Other terraced streets were named after poets, Dickens characters, flowers, Welsh towns, areas of London and so on.


‘The Black Spot on the Mersey’ - The Beginnings of Municipal Housing in Liverpool 


The terraced houses built by private developers did not solve the problem of housing Liverpool’s poor. The combination, already discussed, of rapid population growth, poorly paid and irregular employment and high land values had left an almost overwhelming inheritance of slum housing.  As A. B. Forwood wrote in 1883 when discussing the whole problem of poverty, ‘Liverpool is a remarkable illustration - if any justification is needed - of the necessity of public control.’


The move towards a degree of ‘public control’ in Liverpool came as the result of the work of Dr William Duncan. Born in 1805, the son of a Liverpool merchant, Duncan’s early career had brought him, in the words of one biographer, ‘into contact with the poverty-stricken denizens of the borough while engaged as physician to one of the dispensaries, and he seems to have developed strong sympathies with this neglected and downtrodden section of the community.’ Duncan’s investigative and campaigning work established the connection between the overcrowded and insanitary conditions of the town’s court,  cellars, and back to back housing with high infant mortality rates and the rapid spread of diseases such as typhus and cholera.


In 1842, the Liverpool Building Act gave limited powers to the corporation to restrict the building of courts. Under the 1846 Sanitary Act, not only was Dr Duncan appointed as the country’s first Medical Officer of Health but he was also given the powers to clear cellars houses. By 1851 about 10,000 cellar houses had been dealt with and as a result some 30,000 people had been evicted. The powers to purchase and demolish insanitary properties were increased by the 1864 Liverpool Sanitary Amendment Act. Demolition and eviction, however, threw up another problem as the Corporation had no powers or finances to build alternative housing and most of those evicted had, along with new waves of Irish immigrants, to crowd into other courts and lodging houses.


An answer was for the Corporation to start building municipal housing. The first such development was St Martin’s Cottages, completed in 1869 and consisting of 124 tenement dwellings. These were the first working class corporation houses built in Britain. Progress was slow at first and it was not until 1885 that a further 282 tenements were built in Victoria Square. After the 1890 Housing of the Working Classes, however, the rate of construction increased. By 1916, there had been 2895 dwellings built, including 224 in Bevington Street in 1912.


During this period and for long after, Liverpool was a pioneer in such housing. At the International Health Exhibition in 1887, the drawings for the Victoria Square Scheme were exhibited with the result that a Diploma of Honour was awarded to the Corporation as well as a Gold Medal to the City Engineer as designer. The city was also an innovator in building techniques. The 12 Eldon Street tenements built in 1905 were constructed of prefabricated concre
